

The biology of bovine herpesvirus 1

(**BoHV-1**)

August 2005

CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	3
INTRODUCTION	4
PURPOSE	4
NOMENCLATURE	
BoHV-1 subtypes	
HOST RANGE	4
NATURAL INFECTION	4
EXPERIMENTAL INFECTION	
Infection of humans	
DISEASE	5
SIGNS OF DISEASE	5
BoHV-1 subtype differences	
V155	
Bovine respiratory disease complex	
Australian disease status	
INTERNATIONAL DISEASE STATUS	
VACCINES	
BoHV-1 as a vaccine vector	
VIROLOGY	8
VIRAL CLASSIFICATION	8
HERPESVIRUS STRUCTURE	
VIRUS GENES AND PROTEINS	
BOHV-1 LIFE CYCLE	
Virus transmission	
Virus transmission Cell specificity	
Virus entry into host cells	
Virus replication and release	
Latency	
Cellular transformation	
Integration of viral genes into the host cell genome	10
Virus recombination	11
VIRUS DETECTION	11
IMMUNOLOGY	11
THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO BOHV-1 INFECTION	11
The antibody response	
The cell-mediated immune response	
Allergenicity	12
VIRAL MANIPULATION OF THE IMMUNE RESPONSE	
Immune evasion	
Immunosuppression	
CONCLUSIONS	13
REFERENCES	14

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AFFA	Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry – Australia
BoHV-1	bovine herpesvirus 1
BRD	bovine respiratory disease
CSIRO	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Orgnisation
IBR	infectious bovine rhinotracheitis
ICTV	International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses
IPB	infectious pustular balanoposthitis
IPV	infectious pustular vulvovaginitis
OIE	Office International des Epizooties
SCAHAW	Scientific Committee on Animal Health and Animal Welfare (European Commission)

INTRODUCTION

PURPOSE

The aim of this document is to review of the biology of *Bovine herpesvirus 1* (BoHV-1), with particular regard to the characteristics, attributes and properties of the virus that relate to the health and safety of humans, to host organisms and to the environment.

This review is divided into four main sections. *Host range* and *Disease* provide an overview of the interaction of BoHV-1 with the environment. *Virology* and *Immunology* then provide details of the biology of the virus and of how the virus interacts with the host immune response.

NOMENCLATURE

Bovine herpesvirus 1 (abbreviated to BoHV-1, BHV1 or BHV-1) is the official species name of the virus. *Infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus* (IBR virus) is an alternative name (ICTV 2002). Both names (BoHV-1 and IBR) are currently in common use: BoHV-1 is used in studies of the virus; and IBR is used in studies of the disease.

Former names used to describe BoHV-1 include 'infectious bovine rhinotracheitis (IBR)like' and 'infectious pustular vulvovaginitis (IPV)-like'. These descriptions of clinical signs are now known to relate either to subtypes BoHV1-1.1 and -1.2a, or to subtype BoHV-1.2b, respectively.

BoHV-1 subtypes

Subtyping of BoHV-1 strains is based on analysis of differences in the viral DNA detected by restriction endonuclease digestion or by polymerase chain reaction. DNA analysis corresponds to disease patterns and antigenic properties of the virus subtypes (Engels et al. 1981; Mayfield et al. 1983; Metzler et al. 1985; Metzler et al. 1986; Engels et al. 1986; Smith et al. 1993; Rijsewijk et al. 1999). The section *Disease* discusses the differences in disease caused by different BoHV-1 subtypes.

Australian strains are only of the BoHV-1.2b subtype; V155 is a reference strain (Snowdon 1964; Studdert 1989; Smith et al. 1993; Young et al. 1994; Smith et al. 1995). Overseas, the more virulent BoHV1.1 strains predominate.

HOST RANGE

BoHV-1 is an alphaherpesvirus. These viruses have restricted host ranges, and do not commonly or stably cross species barriers (Brake & Studdert 1985).

Viral host range is determined by both host and viral factors. Successful viral infection depends upon, at least, attachment and penetration of the virus into a host cell, followed by replication and viral export. Virus-host interactions are complex: the factors that are involved in these interactions are discussed in detail in the *Virology* and *Immunology* sections of this document.

NATURAL INFECTION

In Australia, BoHV-1 infects cattle and water buffalo, causing respiratory and genital disease (Animal Health Australia 2004b). Attempts to isolate BoHV-1 from Australian sheep under either field or experimental conditions have been unsuccessful (Young 1993).

Overseas, BoHV-1 has been shown to infect and cause disease in goats and sheep (Whetstone & Evermann 1988). Antibodies to BoHV-1 have been detected in captive Asian elephants (*Elephas maximus*) (Metzler et al. 1990, Bhat et al. 1997) However no disease resulting from BoHV-1 infection of elephants has been listed. BoHV-1 has been isolated from pronghorn antelope, wildebeest, mink and ferrets in the absence of disease (Porter et al. 1975), and from the soft-shelled tick *Ornithodoros coriaceus* (Taylor et al. 1982). It remains unclear if ticks are able to transmit the virus. Face flies (*Musca autumnalis*) carry BoHV-1 after feeding on live virus cultures, but the flies do not transmit the virus to cattle (Johnson et al. 1991).

EXPERIMENTAL INFECTION

BoHV-1 does not infect mice, rats, guinea pigs or chick embryos (Gibbs & Rweyemamu 1977), although immunocompromised mice that lack interferon receptors can be infected if the virus is injected into the peritoneal cavity (Abril et al. 2004). Rabbits can be experimentally infected with BoHV-1 if the virus is injected into the conjunctival sac of the rabbits' eyes (Rock & Reed 1982; Rock et al. 1987; Rock et al. 1992) or through holes drilled into the sinuses (Brown & Field 1990a; Brown & Field 1990b).

Infection of humans

There are no reports of human infection with BoHV-1. There is no evidence that human cells can support BoHV-1 replication. Studies *in vitro* in cell culture show that BoHV-1 can bind weakly to human HveC (nectin-1) or to the human poliovirus receptor (Geraghty et al. 1998; Connolly et al. 2001), although no viral replication is detectable.

DISEASE

SIGNS OF DISEASE

BoHV-1 causes disease in cattle, with the severity of disease relating to the subtype and strain of the virus. The clinical signs of acute disease are caused by the destruction of BoHV-1-infected cells (Engels & Ackermann 1996): binding of the virus triggers programmed host cell death (apoptosis) (Lovato et al. 2003). BoHV-1 infection can cause respiratory, ocular, reproductive, central nervous system, enteric, neonatal and dermal disease in cattle (Gibbs & Rweyemamu 1977; Biuk-Rudan et al. 1999; Kahrs 2001), and can cause mastitis under experimental, but not field, conditions (Wellenberg 2002).

Infections with BoHV-1 alone do not cause death in healthy mature cattle (Kahrs 2001). Deaths from BoHV-1 occur when viral infection is established throughout the blood and the body (viremia). BoHV-1 infection does not cause viremia in healthy mature cattle (Engels & Ackermann 1996). However, BoHV-1 infections can cause foetal infection, viremia, death and abortion following genital infection of pregnant cows (Gibbs & Rweyemanu 1977; Kahrs 2001), and can cause fatal viremia in newborn calves in the absence of maternal antibodies in milk (Mechor et al. 1987).

Acute BoHV-1 infection, whether or not there are clinical signs of disease, leads to latent infection (see *Latency*). Latently infected cattle show no disease unless the latent infection is reactivated.

BoHV-1 subtype differences

BoHV-1 causes respiratory disease (IBR) or venereal disease (IPV in cows or infectious pustular balanoposthitis in bulls) (Gibbs & Rweyemanu 1977). BoHV-1.1b strains are associated with venereal disease, and BoHV-1.1 and -1.2b strains are associated with respiratory disease (Wentink et al. 1993).

BoHV-1 subtypes have differing virulence (capacity to produce disease) (Msolla et al. 1983). BoHV-1.1 strains have been most widely studied, both because they are prevalent in North America and Europe, and because they cause the most severe disease associated with BoHV-1 infection. Subtype 1.2b strains, the only strains of BoHV-1 present in Australia, show the least severe clinical signs and the least viral shedding (Edwards et al. 1991). BoHV-1.2b strains give clinical signs of only mild rhinitis or mild vaginitis (Snowdon 1964; Studdert 1989; Smith et al. 1993; Young et al. 1994; Smith et al. 1995).

V155

Strain V155 is an Australian BoHV-1.2b strain first isolated in 1964 (Snowdon 1964; Brake & Studdert 1985; Smith et al. 1993). V155 is a mildly pathogenic strain that replicates poorly in the upper respiratory tract and causes mild transitory signs of disease following experimental infection (Bagust 1972; Young et al. 1994). V155 is registered with the Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority under the name 'Rhinogard', and is used as a vaccine for feedlot cattle.

Bovine respiratory disease complex

BoHV-1 is one of the agents that cause bovine respiratory disease (BRD). BRD, or 'shipping fever', is a serious pneumonic condition that affects up to 50% of cattle in Australia, causing the death of up to 5% of all cattle (Meat & Livestock Australia 2001), costing the Australian feedlot industry around \$60m each year (CSIRO 2005).

BRD results from a combination of stress and infectious agents, in particular the viruses BoHV-1, *Bovine viral diarrhoea virus*, *Parainfluenza-3 virus* or *Bovine respiratory syncytial virus* and the bacteria *Mannheimia haemolytica* or *Pasteurella multocida* (Yates 1982). BoHV-1 can initiate BRD by causing immunosuppression (Winkler et al. 1999; Lovato et al. 2003), allowing secondary infections that lead to severe pneumonia and death (Hanon et al. 1998; Lovato et al. 2003).

AUSTRALIAN DISEASE STATUS

IBR/IPV is present in Australia (Animal Health Australia 2004a). Whilst BoHV-1 infection is common, only BoHV-1.2b strains have been isolated from Australian cattle (Snowdon 1964; Studdert 1989; Smith et al. 1993; Young et al. 1994; Smith et al. 1995).

Studies on the prevalence of BoHV-1 in Australian cattle show differing results, from about 30% (Smith et al. 1995), to a range of 15% to 96% reported between studies (AFFA 2000). One study of feedlot cattle shows that 13% of cattle have antibodies to BoHV-1 on entry to feedlots, rising to 39% of cattle after 6 weeks in the feedlots (Dunn et al. 1994).

Australia has no program to control or eradicate BoHV-1. The need for such a program has been assessed by Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry – Australia, thus: '[an] eradication program is not likely to be feasible in Australia, nor is there any need for such a program in view of the mild subtypes of [BoHV-1] in Australia and the presence of [BoHV-1] in those countries that are most important to the Australian livestock export trade' (AFFA 2000).

INTERNATIONAL DISEASE STATUS

The World Organisation for Animal Health (Office International des Epizooties; OIE) lists IBR/IPV as a List B notifiable disease (OIE 2004). OIE List B diseases are transmissible diseases that are of socio-economic and/or public health importance, and that are significant in international trade.

BoHV-1 is common in cattle around the world (OIE 2000). Eradication programs involving vaccination, herd isolation, border control and slaughter are in place in several European countries (Kahrs 2001). Denmark, Finland, Sweden, Austria and the province of Bolzano in Italy have successfully eradicated BoHV-1, and are recognised as free from IBR under European Union legislation (SCAHW 2000).

VACCINES

BoHV-1 vaccines include inactivated, attenuated, subunit or gene-deleted (marker) vaccines. Vaccines are used to reduce the severity of disease, but cannot always prevent infection due to the endemic nature of BoHV-1 infection (Fenner et al. 1993). There are two vaccines registered for use in Australia: Rhinogard (live BoHV-1.2b strain V155); and IBEPUR, a subunit vaccine (APVMA 2004). Over 2 million Australian feedlot cattle have been vaccinated with Rhinogard (AFFA 2000).

Various conventional vaccines and marker vaccines (used to differentiate between vaccinated and unvaccinated animals) are available overseas, often in combination with vaccines against other pathogens as multivalent vaccines to control BRD (Fulton et al. 2003). Both modified live and inactivated vaccines have drawbacks such as contraindication for young or pregnant cattle, uncertain efficacy, interference with serological diagnosis, and live vaccine transmission to unvaccinated cattle (Kahrs 2001; Lovato et al. 2003).

DNA vaccines are being developed: research in mice shows that they may overcome the maternal antibody-mediated suppression of the immune response to conventional BoHV-1 vaccines (Lewis et al. 1999; Deshpande et al. 2002).

BoHV-1 as a vaccine vector

BoHV-1 is a potential candidate for a recombinant vaccine vector due to its large size, which allows the insertion of large vaccine genes, and its restricted host range (Bello et al. 1992; Young & Smith 1995; Mahony et al. 2002; Mahony et al. 2003). BoHV-1 vectors have been used to express proteins from *Pseudorabies virus* (a pig pathogen), *Bovine respiratory syncytial virus*, *Foot and mouth disease virus* and *Bovine viral diarrhoea virus* (Otsuka & Xuan 1996; Ikeda et al. 2000; Takashima et al. 2002); (Schrijver et al. 1997; Kuhnle et al. 1998; Taylor et al. 1998) (Kit et al. 1991a; Kit et al. 1991b) (Kweon et al. 1999). The *Bovine viral diarrhoea virus* study, in which the *Bovine viral diarrhoea virus* E2

protein from a *Bovine viral diarrhoea virus* type 1 viral strain was expressed in an attenuated BoHV-1vector with a deletion of the *thymidine kinase* gene, showed reduced disease compared with unvaccinated calves following BoHV-1 challenge, and delayed cytopathic effect compared with wild type BoHV-1 in cell culture (Kweon et al. 1999).

VIROLOGY

VIRAL CLASSIFICATION

Family	Herpesviridae
Subfamily	Alphaherpesvirinae
Genus	Varicellovirus
Species	Bovine herpesvirus 1 (ICTV 2002)

HERPESVIRUS STRUCTURE

Herpesviruses are large, enveloped, double-stranded DNA viruses (Harrison 2001). Typical herpesvirus virions consist of: a core containing linear double-stranded DNA; an icosadeltahedral capsid of about 100 nm diameter containing 162 capsomeres; a tegument surrounding the capsid, and an envelope containing viral glycoprotein spikes on its surface (Roizman & Pellett 2001).

VIRUS GENES AND PROTEINS

BoHV-1 has a 136 kilobasepair double-stranded DNA genome. The complete sequence of the BoHV-1 genome has been determined using a composite of the Cooper, p8-2, 34 and Jura strains of BoHV-1 (Schwyzer et al. 1997). The BoHV-1 genes are named after their *Herpes simplex virus 1* counterparts (Manservigi & Cassai 1991).

All herpesviruses encode a large number of proteins involved in nucleic acid metabolism, DNA synthesis and protein processing (Roizman & Pellett 2001). At least 33 of the BoHV-1 encoded proteins are structural proteins (Misra et al. 1981). Of these, 13 are probably associated with the envelope (Liang et al. 1996) and ten of these have the potential to encode glycoproteins (Schwyzer & Ackermann 1996). There are 8 known glycoproteins: gB, gC, gD, gE, gH, gI, gK and gL; the major envelope glycoproteins are gB, gC and gD. The gC, gD, gE, gG, gI, UL49h and *thymidine kinase* genes are involved in viral virulence (Kit et al. 1985; Kit et al. 1986; Smith 1991; Smith et al. 1994; van Engelenburg et al. 1994; Young & Smith 1995; Van Oirschot et al. 1996; Liang et al. 1997; Kaashoek et al. 1998). There is no evidence either *in vitro* or *in vivo* that BoHV-1 produces toxins.

BOHV-1 LIFE CYCLE

In order for a virus to have a complete life cycle and produce infective virus, the virus must be transmitted to a host, be able to infect host cells and then produce infective virus.

Virus transmission

Viruses exist only in relationships with hosts and cannot replicate outside their hosts. BoHV-1 is inactivated by normal environmental conditions outside the host (Gibbs & Rweyemamu 1977; Elazhary & Derbyshire 1979; Kahrs 2001), and by common disinfectants and solvents (Gibbs & Rweyemamu 1977).

Transmission of BoHV-1 occurs by contact with mucosal droplets from infected cattle (Kahrs 2001); infectious virus is nasally shed for 10–14 days during acute respiratory infection (Gibbs & Rweyemanu 1977), and virus is also shed following reactivation from latency. Contaminated materials, including semen, can transmit the virus (Mars et al. 2000). Australian isolates of BoHV-1, which are all of the subtype 1.2b, cannot be transmitted to the foetus of infected pregnant cows (Young et al. 1994).

Airborne transmission of BoHV-1.1 can occur under experimental conditions at distances of 3.85 m, although this is probably not a major route of transmission (Wentink et al. 1993) and is dependent upon environmental temperature and relative humidity (Elazhary & Derbyshire 1979; Mars et al. 1999). Vectors do not appear to spread the virus (see *Host Range*).

Cell specificity

BoHV-1 can only cause a productive infection in certain cell types, since only some cells produce the proteins required for virus entry and subsequent virus production. BoHV-1 infects epithelial cells of the upper respiratory tract, vaginal or prepuce mucous membranes, and the tonsils and conjunctivae (Tikoo et al. 1995a), as well as CD4+ T cells (Lovato et al. 2003), monocytes and macrophages (Nyaga & McKercher 1979; Forman et al. 1982).

Physical barriers, such as skin, mucous and the immune response restrict access of the virus to certain sites within the body. When these barriers are compromised, the virus is able to establish infection throughout the body (Mechor et al. 1987). Latent infections are established at immunoprivileged sites following acute infection (OIE 2000).

Virus entry into host cells

Herpesviruses enter cells by fusing with the cell plasma membrane in a complex process of attachment and penetration. Virus entry requires the presence of complementary binding partners on the virus and on the host cell. Studies show that the BoHV-1 glycoproteins gB, gC, gD, gE, gH, gK and gL are required for virus entry (Li et al. 1995; Schroder & Keil 1999; Dasika & Letchworth, III 1999; Hanon et al. 1999). BoHV-1.1 and BoHV-1.2 subtypes differ in gC epitopes, which may alter viral attachment and account for subtype differences of viral virulence (Rijsewijk et al. 1999).

Although the host cell proteins required for BoHV-1 entry are not fully understood, the virus initially binds to cell surface heparan sulphate (Hanon et al. 1998; Tyler & Nathanson 2001) via BoHV-1 gB and gC (Li et al. 1996). After this initial binding, BoHV-1 gB and gD then bind further cell surface receptors (that have yet to be identified) with high affinity (Li et al. 1995). Studies to identify these high affinity receptors have shown that BoHV-1 gD can weakly bind HveC or the human poliovirus receptor expressed in human or hamster cell lines (Geraghty et al. 1998; Connolly et al. 2001). This weak binding indicates that viral

entry in a natural host may be mediated by receptors other than bovine HveC or poliovirus receptor homologues (Geraghty et al. 1998; Connolly et al. 2001).

Virus replication and release

After entry into the host cell, BoHV-1 is transported along microtubules to the nucleus for replication using host cell proteins. The virus becomes enveloped as it buds through the nuclear envelope and is then transported within intracellular vesicles to the cytoplasmic membrane and released from the cell (Knipe et al. 2001; Hunter 2001). BoHV-1 replication starts within two hours of infection in cattle (Meurens et al. 2004b), with cell surface antigen expression within 3-4 hours after infection and viral release and spread starting at 8 hours after infection (Babiuk et al. 1996).

Latency

BoHV-1 is maintained within the host animal by latent infection. There is no evidence for persistent productive infection with BoHV-1. BoHV-1 latency occurs at immunoprivileged sites in the peripheral nervous system following productive viral infection (Rock et al. 1987; Rock et al. 1992; OIE 2000). Latency may also occur in tonsillar lymphoid cells and peripheral blood lymphocytes (Mweene et al. 1996). Latent virus only produces latency-related proteins, which protect latently infected cells from apoptosis (Schang et al. 1996). Infectious virus is not present during latent infection (Rock 1994; Engels & Ackermann 1996).

Cattle that are seronegative for BoHV-1 antibodies may be latently infected with BoHV-1 (Hage et al. 1998). Young calves can have latent infections and have antibody responses due to infection in the presence of maternal antibodies (SCAHW 2000). Inoculation with live vaccine strains of BoVH-1 can also lead to latent infection (Kit et al. 1985; SCAHW 2000).

Reactivation of latent BoHV-1 infections occurs in response to stress, and productive infection of the epithelial cells recurrs. The stress of transport has been shown to cause viral reactivation, leading to virus shedding from days 1-4 after the day of transport (Thiry et al. 1987).

Cellular transformation

Some viruses are known to trigger cellular transformation, leading to tumour formation and the development of cancer. Each major DNA virus family, except the parvoviruses, includes viruses that are oncogenic (Nevins 2001). However, there is no evidence that alphaherpesviruses, including BoHV-1, are capable of transforming host cells.

Integration of viral genes into the host cell genome

Virus genes that are integrated into the host cell genome are expressed in the host cell and are passed on with any cell division of the host cell. There is no evidence of the integration of BoHV-1 genes into the host cell genome. In contrast, long term viral survival is dependent upon the establishment of latency, in which a circularised genome is maintained extrachromosomally (Roizman & Pellett 2001).

Virus recombination

Virus recombination occurs when genes of one virus are transferred to another virus, during virus replication in a cell that is co-infected with more than one virus. Intraspecific recombination has been observed between different strains of the same alphaherpesvirus species and is dependent on the level of sequence similarity (Meurens et al. 2004a; Thiry et al. 2005). As sequence similarity diverges towards a species level, the likelihood of recombination also decreases.

Recombination of BoHV-1 has only been described following experimental co-infection (SCAHW 2000; Schynts et al. 2003). Recombination can only occur if two strains of BoHV-1 are inoculated in proximity within two hours of each other (Meurens et al. 2004b). After two hours, viral replication of the first virus has started in the host cell, which prevents infection of the cell with another viral strain (viral interference) (Chase et al. 1990; Dasika & Letchworth 2000). The co-infection of two viral strains within two hours would be very unlikely under field conditions.

A BoHV-1 vaccine has been studied to assess the ability of different strains of BoHV-1 to undergo recombination. A genetically modified BoHV-1 vaccine containing a deletion in the *thymidine kinase* gene was shown to persist in cattle in the field for at least 3 months, during which time no recombination or reversion to wild type virus was found (Kit et al. 1985).

VIRUS DETECTION

The OIE has established recognised standards for BoHV-1 diagnostic tests, which include collection and processing of samples, virus isolation, viral antigen detection, nucleic acid detection, differentiation of BoHV-1 subtypes and serological tests including virus neutralisation and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (OIE 2000).

IMMUNOLOGY

The immunology of BoHV-1 infection relates to both the host immune response to viral infection, and to mechanisms that the virus uses to overcome the host immune response.

THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO BOHV-1 INFECTION

The immune response of cattle to BoHV-1 infection is unique. While there are similarities to immune responses to other alphaherpesviruses, the bovine response to BoHV-1 is not identical to that of *Herpes simplex virus* in mice or in humans, and does not correlate precisely with experimental BoHV-1 infection in mice (Babiuk et al. 1996).

The immune response to BoHV-1 infection is triggered when the virus begins to replicate (Babiuk et al. 1996). Adaptive cell-mediated and antibody-mediated immune response occur by 7 days after infection (Engels & Ackermann 1996; OIE 2000). Antibody is thought to be critical in preventing infection and viral spread, while cell-mediated immunity is involved in recovery from infection (Babiuk et al. 1996).

The antibody response

Antibodies are produced against the gB, gC, gD and gE glycoproteins (Tikoo et al. 1995a), protecting against viremia and associated severe disease (Mechor et al. 1987) The antibody response includes neutralising antibodies, and contributes to antiviral antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (Tikoo et al. 1995a), which is enhanced by complement (Rouse et al. 1977).

Antibodies persist at detectable levels for 3 years following BoHV-1 vaccination (Hage et al. 1998). The antibody response to the V155 strain of BoHV-1 persists at maximal levels from 7 to 21 days after infection (Bagust 1972). Maternal antibody to BoHV-1 persists for 123 days after weaning at two months of age (Fulton et al. 2004). Newborn calves are protected from BoHV-1 infection after being fed colostrum of vaccinated cows (Mechor et al. 1987), although maternal antibody is not completely protective since calves can have latent BoHV-1 infections early in life in the presence of maternal antibody (SCAHW 2000).

The cell-mediated immune response

The cell-mediated immune response to BoHV-1 infection includes macrophages, interleukin-2 and interferon - γ production, natural killer cells and natural killer-like activity, proliferation of viral gC- and gD-specific CD4+ T cells and stimulation of cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity (Hutchings et al. 1990; Tikoo et al. 1995b). Interferon- γ , interferon- α and interferon- β have been shown to both protect against infection and to prevent viral spread in experimental infection in mice (Abril et al. 2004). Responses to BoHV-1 infection are broad based and include both T helper 1 and T helper 2 responses (Babiuk et al. 1996), although, as with other intracellular pathogens, there is a skew towards a T helper 1-type response (Mena et al. 2002).

Allergenicity

There are no reports of BoHV-1 encoding known allergens or causing an allergic response.

VIRAL MANIPULATION OF THE IMMUNE RESPONSE

Immune evasion

BoHV-1 evades the host immune response by interfering with antigen processing and presentation and by infecting monocytes and macrophages (Nyaga & McKercher 1979; Forman et al. 1982). Alphaherpesviruses, including BoHV-1, also have immunomodulatory activity mediated by herpesvirus proteins that mimic key molecules of the host immune system (Raftery et al. 2000). For example, these viruses express proteins that bind complement C3 in a species-specific manner and thus alter the host immune response to allow viral infection (Huemer et al. 1993; Engels & Ackermann 1996).

Additionally, latency is a means of immune evasion. During latency viral proteins are not expressed, and infection occurs at immunoprivileged sites that do not express major histocompatability class I antigens (Tyler & Nathanson 2001).

Immunosuppression

BoHV-1 causes a broad immunosuppression in infected cattle, which often leads to secondary viral and bacterial infections (Winkler et al. 1999), contributing to BRD.

Immunosuppression is caused by impairment of macrophage, polymorphonuclear neutrophil and lymphocyte function (Tikoo et al. 1995a), and by decreased IL-2 receptor expression, decreased mitogenic stimulation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells and reduced numbers of circulating T lymphocytes (Winkler et al. 1999). Infection of monocytes and macrophages leads to impaired phagocytosis, impaired antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity function and poor T cell stimulation (Forman et al. 1982). The effect of immunosuppression is partly mediated by the BoHV-1 gG glycoprotein, a broad-spectrum chemokine-binding protein that blocks chemokine binding and activity (Bryant et al. 2003). BoHV-1 also infects CD4+ T cells, inducing a loss of CD4 expression followed by apoptosis of these cells (Winkler et al. 1999; Lovato et al. 2003).

CONCLUSIONS

The key points that arise from this review of BoHV-1 in relation to the health and safety of humans, host organisms and the environment are as follows.

- The host range of BoHV-1 does not include people. There is no evidence that BoHV-1 can infect people.
- BoHV-1 causes disease in cattle, water buffalo, sheep and goats.
- BoHV-1 is one of the causative agents of Bovine Respiratory Disease, a disease that affects the Australian cattle industry.
- BoHV-1.2b is the only strain of BoHV-1 that has been isolated in Australia. This strain causes mild disease in cattle and water buffalo but has not been detected in sheep or goats in Australia.
- Vaccination programs against the virus are unlikely to be completely effective due the endemic nature of BoHV-1.
- There is no evidence that BoHV-1 is capable of cellular transformation or host cell integration.
- There is no evidence that BoHV-1 encodes toxins or allergens.

To conclude, the literature discussed in this review indicates that the BoHV-1.2b strain present in Australia and used as a vaccine strain is a relatively innocuous virus with a limited host range.

REFERENCES

Abril, C., Engels, M., Liman, A., Hilbe, M., Albini, S., Franchini, M., Suter, M., Ackermann, M. (2004). Both viral and host factors contribute to neurovirulence of bovine herpesviruses 1 and 5 in interferon receptor-deficient mice. *Journal of Virology* **78**: 3644-3653.

AFFA (2000). Discussion paper on bovine herpesvirus 1. Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry - Australia, Canberra.

Animal Health Australia (2004a). Animal Health in Australia 2003. Australian Animal Health Council Limited, Canberra.

Animal Health Australia (2004b). National Animal Health Information System. Accessed on 28 July 2004b.

APVMA (2004). PUBCRIS - Registered products database. Accessed on 22 July 2004.

Babiuk, L.A., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Tikoo, S.K. (1996). Immunology of bovine herpesvirus 1 infection. *Veterinary Microbiology* **53**: 31-42.

Bagust, T.J. (1972). Comparison of the biological, biophysical and antigenic properties of four strains of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis herpesvirus. *Journal of Comparative Pathology* **82**: 365-374.

Bello, L.J., Whitbeck, J.C., Lawrence, W.C. (1992). Bovine herpesvirus 1 as a live virus vector for expression of foreign genes. *Virology* **190**: 666-673.

Bhat, M.N., Manickam, R., Kumanan, K. (1997). Serological evidence of bovine herpesviruses 1 and 2 in Asian elephants. *J Wildl Dis* **33**: 919-920.

Biuk-Rudan, N., Cvetnic, S., Madic, J., Rudan, D. (1999). Prevalence of antibodies to IBR and BVD viruses in dairy cows with reproductive disorders. *Theriogenology* **51**: 875-881.

Brake, F., Studdert, M.J. (1985). Molecular epidemiology and pathogenesis of ruminant herpesviruses including bovine, buffalo and caprine herpesviruses 1 and bovine encephalitis herpesvirus. *Australian Veterinary Journal* **62**: 331-334.

Brown, G.A., Field, H.J. (1990a). A reliable method for establishing viral infection in the rabbit by intranasal inoculation. *Journal of Virological Methods* **27**: 341-345.

Brown, G.A., Field, H.J. (1990b). Experimental reactivation of bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1) by means of corticosteroids in an intranasal rabbit model. *Archives of Virology* **112**: 81-101.

Bryant, N.A., Davis-Poynter, N., Vanderplasschen, A., Alcami, A. (2003). Glycoprotein G isoforms from some alphaherpesviruses function as broad-spectrum chemokine binding proteins. *EMBO Journal* **22**: 833-846.

Chase, C.C., Carter-Allen, K., Lohff, C., Letchworth, G.J., III (1990). Bovine cells expressing bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1) glycoprotein IV resist infection by BHV-1, herpes simplex virus, and pseudorabies virus. *Journal of Virology* **64**: 4866-4872.

Connolly, S.A., Whitbeck, J.J., Rux, A.H., Krummenacher, C., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Cohen, G.H., Eisenberg, R.J. (2001). Glycoprotein D homologs in herpes simplex virus type 1, pseudorabies virus, and bovine herpes virus type 1 bind directly to human HveC(nectin-1) with different affinities. *Virology* **280**: 7-18.

CSIRO (2005). New Vaccine for Cattle Pneumonia. Accessed on 18 May 2005.

Dasika, G.K., Letchworth, G.J., III (1999). Cellular expression of bovine herpesvirus 1 gD inhibits cell-to-cell spread of two closely related viruses without blocking their primary infection. *Virology* **254**: 24-36.

Dasika, G.K., Letchworth, G.J. (2000). Homologous and heterologous interference requires bovine herpesvirus-1 glycoprotein D at the cell surface during virus entry. *Journal of General Virology* **81**: 1041-1049.

Deshpande, M.S., Ambagala, T.C., Hegde, N.R., Hariharan, M.J., Navaratnam, M., Srikumaran, S. (2002). Induction of cytotoxic T-lymphocytes specific for bovine herpesvirus-1 by DNA immunization. *Vaccine* **20**: 3744-3751.

Dunn, S.E., Godwin, J., Hoare, R.J.T., and Kirkland, P.D. (1994). Diseases of feedlot cattle: project DAN 64. Final Report to the Meat Research Corporation.

Edwards, S., Newman, R.H., White, H. (1991). The virulence of British isolates of bovid herpesvirus 1 in relationship to viral genotype. *British Veterinary Journal* **147**: 216-231.

Elazhary, M.A., Derbyshire, J.B. (1979). Effect of temperature, relative humidity and medium on the aerosol stability of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine* **43**: 158-167.

Engels, M., Ackermann, M. (1996). Pathogenesis of ruminant herpesvirus infections. *Veterinary Microbiology* **53**: 3-15.

Engels, M., Giuliani, C., Wild, P., Beck, T.M., Loepfe, E., Wyler, R. (1986). The genome of bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1) strains exhibiting a neuropathogenic potential compared to known BHV-1 strains by restriction site mapping and cross-hybridization. *Virus Research* **6**: 57-73.

Engels, M., Steck, F., Wyler, R. (1981). Comparison of the genomes of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis and infectious pustular vulvovaginitis virus strains by restriction endonuclease analysis. *Archives of Virology* **67**: 169-174.

Fenner, F.J., Gibbs, E.P.L., Murphy, F.A., Rott, R., Studdert, M.L., White, D.O. (1993). Diseases caused by alphaherpesviruses. In: *Veterinary Virology*, Edition 2. Academic Press, San Diego. pp 345-348.

Forman, A.J., Babiuk, L.A., Misra, V., Baldwin, F. (1982). Susceptibility of bovine macrophages to infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus infection. *Infection and Immunity* **35**: 1048-1057.

Fulton, R.W., Briggs, R.E., Payton, M.E., Confer, A.W., Saliki, J.T., Ridpath, J.F., Burge, L.J., Duff, G.C. (2004). Maternally derived humoral immunity to bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) 1a, BVDV1b, BVDV2, bovine herpesvirus-1, parainfluenza-3 virus bovine respiratory syncytial virus, Mannheimia haemolytica and Pasteurella multocida in beef calves, antibody decline by half-life studies and effect on response to vaccination. *Vaccine* **22**: 643-649.

Fulton, R.W., Saliki, J.T., Burge, L.J., Payton, M.E. (2003). Humoral immune response and assessment of vaccine virus shedding in calves receiving modified live virus vaccines containing bovine herpesvirus-1 and bovine viral diarrhoea virus 1a. *Journal of veterinary medicine B, Infectious diseases and veterinary public health* **50**: 31-37.

Geraghty, R.J., Krummenacher, C., Cohen, G.H., Eisenberg, R.J., Spear, P.G. (1998). Entry of alphaherpesviruses mediated by poliovirus receptor-related protein 1 and poliovirus receptor. *Science* **280**: 1618-1620.

Gibbs, E.P.J., Rweyemamu, M.M. (1977). Bovine herpesviruses. Part I. Bovine herpesvirus 1. *The Veterinary Bulletin* **47**: 317-343.

Hage, J.J., Glas, R.D., Westra, H.H., Maris-Veldhuis, M.A., Van Oirschot, J.T., Rijsewijk, F.A. (1998). Reactivation of latent bovine herpesvirus 1 in cattle seronegative to glycoproteins gB and gE. *Veterinary Microbiology* **60**: 87-98.

Hanon, E., Keil, G., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Griebel, P., Vanderplasschen, A., Rijsewijk, F.A., Babiuk, L., Pastoret, P.P. (1999). Bovine herpesvirus 1-induced apoptotic cell death: role of glycoprotein D. *Virology* **257**: 191-197.

Hanon, E., Meyer, G., Vanderplasschen, A., Dessy-Doize, C., Thiry, E., Pastoret, P.P. (1998). Attachment but not penetration of bovine herpesvirus 1 is necessary to induce apoptosis in target cells. *Journal of Virology* **72**: 7638-7641.

Harrison, S.C. (2001). Principles of virus structure. Chapter 3. In: DM Knipe, PM Howley, eds. *Fields' Virology*, Edition 4, Volume 1. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. pp 53-85.

Huemer, H.P., Larcher, C., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Babiuk, L.A. (1993). Species selective interaction of Alphaherpesvirinae with the "unspecific" immune system of the host. *Archives of Virology* **130**: 353-364.

Hunter, E. (2001). Virus assembly. Chapter 8. In: DM Knipe, PM Howley, eds. *Fields' Virology*, Edition 4, Volume 1. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. pp 171-197.

Hutchings, D.L., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Babiuk, L.A. (1990). Lymphocyte proliferative responses to separated bovine herpesvirus 1 proteins in immune cattle. *Journal of Virology* **64**: 5114-5122.

ICTV (2002). ICTVdb. Accessed on 9 July 2004.

Ikeda, Y., Shibata, I., Xuan, X., Matsumoto, Y., Otsuka, H. (2000). Immunogenic properties of a bovine herpesvirus-1 (BHV-1) recombinant expressing major pseudorabies virus (PrV) glycoproteins in combination. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* **62**: 849-859.

Johnson, G.D., Campbell, J.B., Minocha, H.C., Broce, A.B. (1991). Ability of Musca autumnalis (Diptera: Muscidae) to acquire and transmit bovine herpesvirus-1. *Journal of Medical Entomology* **28**: 841-846.

Kaashoek, M.J., Rijsewijk, F.A., Ruuls, R.C., Keil, G.M., Thiry, E., Pastoret, P.P., Van Oirschot, J.T. (1998). Virulence, immunogenicity and reactivation of bovine herpesvirus 1 mutants with a deletion in the gC, gG, gI, gE, or in both the gI and gE gene. *Vaccine* **16**: 802-809.

Kahrs, R.F. (2001). Infectious bovine rhinotracheitis and infections pustular vulvovaginitis. Chapter 18. In: *Viral Diseases of Cattle*, Edition 2. Iowa State University Press, Ames. pp 159-170.

Kit, M., Kit, S., Little, S.P., Di Marchi, R.D., Gale, C. (1991a). Bovine herpesvirus-1 (infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus)-based viral vector which expresses foot-and-mouth disease epitopes. *Vaccine* **9**: 564-572.

Kit, S., Kit, M., DiMarchi, R.D., Little, S.P., Gale, C. (1991b). Modified-live infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus vaccine expressing monomer and dimer forms of foot-and-mouth disease capsid protein epitopes on surface of hybrid virus particles. *Archives of Virology* **120**: 1-17.

Kit, S., Kit, M., McConnell, S. (1986). Intramuscular and intravaginal vaccination of pregnant cows with thymidine kinase-negative, temperature-resistant infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus (bovine herpes virus 1). *Vaccine* **4**: 55-61.

Kit, S., Qavi, H., Gaines, J.D., Billingsley, P., McConnell, S. (1985). Thymidine kinasenegative bovine herpesvirus type 1 mutant is stable and highly attenuated in calves. *Archives of Virology* **86**: 63-83.

Knipe, D.M., Samuel, C.E., Palese, P. (2001). Virus-host cell interactions. Chapter 7. In: DM Knipe, PM Howley, eds. *Fields' Virology*, Edition 4, Volume 1. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. pp 133-170.

Kuhnle, G., Heinze, A., Schmitt, J., Giesow, K., Taylor, G., Morrison, I., Rijsewijk, F.A., Van Oirschot, J.T., Keil, G.M. (1998). The class II membrane glycoprotein G of bovine respiratory syncytial virus, expressed from a synthetic open reading frame, is incorporated into virions of recombinant bovine herpesvirus 1. *Journal of Virology* **72**: 3804-3811.

Kweon, C.H., Kang, S.W., Choi, E.J., Kang, Y.B. (1999). Bovine herpes virus expressing envelope protein (E2) of bovine viral diarrhea virus as a vaccine candidate. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* **61**: 395-401.

Lewis, P.J., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Babiuk, L.A. (1999). Induction of immune responses to bovine herpesvirus type 1 gD in passively immune mice after immunization with a DNA-based vaccine. *Journal of General Virology* **80**: 2829-2837.

Li, Y., Liang, X., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Attah-Poku, S., Babiuk, L.A. (1996). Glycoprotein Bb, the N-terminal subunit of bovine herpesvirus 1 gB, can bind to heparan sulfate on the surfaces of Madin-Darby bovine kidney cells. *Journal of Virology* **70**: 2032-2037.

Li, Y., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Babiuk, L.A., Liang, X. (1995). Characterization of cell-binding properties of bovine herpesvirus 1 glycoproteins B, C, and D: identification of a dual cell-binding function of gB. *Journal of Virology* **69**: 4758-4768.

Liang, X., Chow, B., Babiuk, L.A. (1997). Study of immunogenicity and virulence of bovine herpesvirus 1 mutants deficient in the UL49 homolog, UL49.5 homolog and dUTPase genes in cattle. *Vaccine* **15**: 1057-1064.

Liang, X., Chow, B., Raggo, C., Babiuk, L.A. (1996). Bovine herpesvirus 1 UL49.5 homolog gene encodes a novel viral envelope protein that forms a disulfide-linked complex with a second virion structural protein. *Journal of Virology* **70**: 1448-1454.

Lovato, L., Inman, M., Henderson, G., Doster, A., Jones, C. (2003). Infection of cattle with a bovine herpesvirus 1 strain that contains a mutation in the latency-related gene leads to increased apoptosis in trigeminal ganglia during the transition from acute infection to latency. *Journal of Virology* **77**: 4848-4857.

Mahony, T.J., McCarthy, F.M., Gravel, J.L., West, L., Young, P.L. (2002). Construction and manipulation of an infectious clone of the bovine herpesvirus 1 genome maintained as a bacterial artificial chromosome. *Journal of Virology* **76**: 6660-6668.

Mahony, T.J., McCarthy, F.M., Gravel, J.L., Young, P.L. (2003). Rapid and efficient construction of recombinant bovine herpesvirus 1 genomes. *Journal of Virological Methods* **107**: 269-274.

Manservigi, R., Cassai, E. (1991). The glycoproteins of the human herpesviruses. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* **14**: 81-95.

Mars, M.H., Bruschke, C.J., Van Oirschot, J.T. (1999). Airborne transmission of BHV1, BRSV, and BVDV among cattle is possible under experimental conditions. *Veterinary Microbiology* **66**: 197-207.

Mars, M.H., de Jong, M.C., van Maanen, C., Hage, J.J., Van Oirschot, J.T. (2000). Airborne transmission of bovine herpesvirus 1 infections in calves under field conditions. *Veterinary Microbiology* **76**: 1-13.

Mayfield, J.E., Good, P.J., VanOort, H.J., Campbell, A.R., Reed, D.E. (1983). Cloning and cleavage site mapping of DNA from bovine herpesvirus 1 (Cooper strain). *Journal of Virology* **47**: 259-264.

Meat & Livestock Australia (2001). Sydney, On farm tips & tools. Controlling Bovine Respiratory Disease in feedlot cattle. Meat &Livestock Australia.

Mechor, G.D., Rousseaux, C.G., Radostits, O.M., Babiuk, L.A., Petrie, L. (1987). Protection of newborn calves against fatal multisystemic infectious bovine rhinotracheitis by feeding colostrum from vaccinated cows. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research* **51**: 452-459.

Mena, A., Ioannou, X.P., Van Kessel, A., Van Drunen Little-Van Den Hurk, Popowych, Y., Babiuk, L.A., Godson, D.L. (2002). Th1/Th2 biasing effects of vaccination in cattle as determined by real-time PCR. *Journal of Immunological Methods* **263**: 11-21.

Metzler, A.E., Matile, H., Gassmann, U., Engels, M., Wyler, R. (1985). European isolates of bovine herpesvirus 1: a comparison of restriction endonuclease sites, polypeptides, and reactivity with monoclonal antibodies. *Archives of Virology* **85**: 57-69.

Metzler, A.E., Ossent, P., Guscetti, F., Rubel, A., Lang, E.M. (1990). Serological evidence of herpesvirus infection in captive Asian elephants (Elephas maximus). *J Wildl Dis* **26**: 41-49.

Metzler, A.E., Schudel, A.A., Engels, M. (1986). Bovine herpesvirus 1: molecular and antigenic characteristics of variant viruses isolated from calves with neurological disease. *Archives of Virology* **87**: 205-217.

Meurens, F., Keil, G.M., Muylkens, B., Gogev, S., Schynts, F., Negro, S., Wiggers, L., Thiry, E. (2004a). Interspecific recombination between two ruminant alphaherpesviruses, *Bovine herpesviruses* 1 and 5. *Journal of Virology* **78**: 9828-9836.

Meurens, F., Schynts, F., Keil, G.M., Muylkens, B., Vanderplasschen, A., Gallego, P., Thiry, E. (2004b). Superinfection prevents recombination of the alphaherpesvirus bovine herpesvirus 1. *Journal of Virology* **78**: 3872-3879.

Misra, V., Blumenthal, R.M., Babiuk, L.A. (1981). Proteins specified by bovine herpesvirus 1 (infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus). *Journal of Virology* **40**: 367-378.

Msolla, P.M., Wiseman, A., Allan, E.M., Selman, I.E. (1983). A comparison of the virulence of three strains of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus. *Veterinary Microbiology* **8**: 129-134.

Mweene, A.S., Okazaki, K., Kida, H. (1996). Detection of viral genome in non-neural tissues of cattle experimentally infected with bovine herpesvirus 1. *Japanese Journal of Veterinary Research* **44**: 165-174.

Nevins, J.R. (2001). Cell transformation by viruses. Chapter 10. In: DM Knipe, PM Howley, eds. *Fields' Virology*, Edition 4, Volume 1. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. pp 245-283.

Nyaga, P.N., McKercher, D.G. (1979). Pathogenesis of bovine herpesvirus-1 (BHV-1) infections: interactions of the virus with peripheral bovine blood cellular components. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* **2**: 587-602.

OIE (2000). Infectious bovine rhinotracheitis / infectious pustular vulvovaginitis. Chapter 2.3.5. In: *Manual of Standards Diagnostic Tests and Vaccines 2000*, Edition 4. Office International des Epizooties,

OIE (2004). OIE Home page. Accessed on 22 July 2004.

Otsuka, H., Xuan, X. (1996). Construction of bovine herpesvirus-1 (BHV-1) recombinants which express pseudorabies virus (PRV) glycoproteins gB, gC, gD, and gE. *Archives of Virology* **141**: 57-71.

Porter, D.D., Larsen, A.E., Cox, N.A. (1975). Isolation of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus from Mustelidae. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **1**: 112-113.

Raftery, M., Muller, A., Schonrich, G. (2000). Herpesvirus homologues of cellular genes. *Virus Genes* **21**: 65-75.

Rijsewijk, F.A., Kaashoek, M.J., Langeveld, J.P., Meloen, R., Judek, J., Bienkowska-Szewczyk, K., Maris-Veldhuis, M.A., Van Oirschot, J.T. (1999). Epitopes on glycoprotein C of bovine herpesvirus-1 (BHV-1) that allow differentiation between BHV-1.1 and BHV-1.2 strains. *Journal of General Virology* **80**: 1477-1483.

Rock, D., Lokensgard, J., Lewis, T., Kutish, G. (1992). Characterization of dexamethasoneinduced reactivation of latent bovine herpesvirus 1. *Journal of Virology* **66**: 2484-2490.

Rock, D.L. (1994). Latent infection with bovine herpesvirus type 1. *Semiars in Virology* **5**: 233-240.

Rock, D.L., Beam, S.L., Mayfield, J.E. (1987). Mapping bovine herpesvirus type 1 latencyrelated RNA in trigeminal ganglia of latently infected rabbits. *Journal of Virology* **61**: 3827-3831.

Rock, D.L., Reed, D.E. (1982). Persistent infection with bovine herpesvirus type 1: rabbit model. *Infection and Immunity* **35**: 371-373.

Roizman, B., Pellett, P.E. (2001). The family *Herpesviridae*: a brief introduction. Chapter 71. In: DM Knipe, PM Howley, eds. *Fields' Virology*, Edition 4, Volume 2. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. pp 2381-2397.

Rouse, B.T., Grewal, A.S., Babiuk, L.A., Fujimiya, Y. (1977). Enhancement of antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity of herpesvirus-infected cells by complement. *Infection and Immunity* **18**: 660-665.

SCAHW (2000). Report on Bovine Herpesvirus 1 (BHV1) marker vaccines and the accompanying diagnostic tests. Scientific Committe on Animal Health and Welfare, European Commission Health & Consumer Protection Directorate-General,

Schang, L.M., Hossain, A., Jones, C. (1996). The latency-related gene of bovine herpesvirus 1 encodes a product which inhibits cell cycle progression. *Journal of Virology* **70**: 3807-3814.

Schrijver, R.S., Langedijk, J.P., Keil, G.M., Middel, W.G., Maris-Veldhuis, M., Van Oirschot, J.T., Rijsewijk, F.A. (1997). Immunization of cattle with a BHV1 vector vaccine or a DNA vaccine both coding for the G protein of BRSV. *Vaccine* **15**: 1908-1916.

Schroder, C., Keil, G.M. (1999). Bovine herpesvirus 1 requires glycoprotein H for infectivity and direct spreading and glycoproteins gH(W450) and gB for glycoprotein D-independent cell-to-cell spread. *Journal of General Virology* **80**: 57-61.

Schwyzer, M., Ackermann, M. (1996). Molecular virology of ruminant herpesviruses. *Veterinary Microbiology* **53**: 17-29.

Schwyzer, M., Paces, V., Letchworth, G.J., Misra, V., Buhk, H.J., Lowery, D.E., Simard, C., Bello, L.J., Thiry, E., Vlcek, C. (1997). Complete DNA sequence of bovine herpesvirus 1. National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) Nucleotide Database Accession No NC_001847. Last updated 12 January 2004.

Schynts, F., Meurens, F., Detry, B., Vanderplasschen, A., Thiry, E. (2003). Rise and survival of bovine herpesvirus 1 recombinants after primary infection and reactivation from latency. *Journal of Virology* **77**: 12535-12542.

Smith, G.A.(1991). Analysis of BHV1 TK genes and construction of an attenuated vaccine. PhD University of Queensland

Smith, G.A., Young, P.L., Mattick, J.S. (1993). Bovine herpesvirus 1.1--an exotic disease agent? *Australian Veterinary Journal* **70**: 272-273.

Smith, G.A., Young, P.L., Reed, K.C. (1995). Emergence of a new bovine herpesvirus 1 strain in Australian feedlots. *Archives of Virology* **140**: 599-603.

Smith, G.A., Young, P.L., Rodwell, B.J., Kelly, M.A., Storie, G.J., Farrah, C.A., Mattick, J.S. (1994). Development and trial of a bovine herpesvirus 1-thymidine kinase deletion virus as a vaccine. *Australian Veterinary Journal* **71**: 65-70.

Snowdon, W.A. (1964). Infectious bovine rhinotracheitis and infectious pustular vulvovaginitis in Australian cattle. *Australian Veterinary Journal* **40**: 277-288.

Studdert, M.J. (1989). A brief review of studies of bovine and equine herpesviruses. *Australian Veterinary Journal* **66**: 401-402.

Takashima, Y., Nagane, N., Hushur, O., Matsumoto, Y., Otsuka, H. (2002). Bovine herpesvirus-1 (BHV-1) recombinant expressing pseudorabies virus (PrV) glycoproteins B and C induces type 1 immune response in BALB/c mice. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* **64**: 589-596.

Taylor, G., Rijsewijk, F.A., Thomas, L.H., Wyld, S.G., Gaddum, R.M., Cook, R.S., Morrison, W.I., Hensen, E., Van Oirschot, J.T., Keil, G. (1998). Resistance to bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV) induced in calves by a recombinant bovine herpesvirus-1 expressing the attachment glycoprotein of BRSV. *Journal of General Virology* **79**: 1759-1767.

Taylor, R.E., Seal, B.S., St Jeor, S. (1982). Isolation of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus from the soft-shelled tick, Ornithodoros coriaceus. *Science* **216**: 300-301.

Thiry, E., Meurens, F., Muylkens, B., McVoy, M., Gogev, S., Thiry, J., Vanderplasschen, A., Epstein, A., Keil, G., Schynts, F. (2005). Recombination in alphaherpesviruses. *Reviews Medical Virology* **15**: 89-103.

Thiry, E., Saliki, J.T., Bublot, M., Pastoret, P.P. (1987). Reactivation of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus by transport. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* **10**: 59-63.

Tikoo, S.K., Campos, M., Babiuk, L.A. (1995a). Bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1): biology, pathogenesis, and control. *Advances in Virus Research* **45**: 191-223.

Tikoo, S.K., Campos, M., Popowych, Y.I., van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk, Babiuk, L.A. (1995b). Lymphocyte proliferative responses to recombinant bovine herpes virus type 1 (BHV-1) glycoprotein gD (gIV) in immune cattle: identification of a T cell epitope. *Viral Immunology* **8**: 19-25.

Tyler, K.L., Nathanson, N. (2001). Pathogenesis of viral infections. Chapter 7. In: DM Knipe, PM Howley, eds. *Fields' Virology*, Edition 4, Volume 1. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. pp 199-243.

van Engelenburg, F.A., Kaashoek, M.J., Rijsewijk, F.A., van den, B.L., Moerman, A., Gielkens, A.L., Van Oirschot, J.T. (1994). A glycoprotein E deletion mutant of bovine herpesvirus 1 is avirulent in calves. *Journal of General Virology* **75**: 2311-2318.

Van Oirschot, J.T., Kaashoek, M.J., Rijsewijk, F.A., Stegeman, J.A. (1996). The use of marker vaccines in eradication of herpesviruses. *Journal of Biotechnology* **44**: 75-81.

Wellenberg, G.J.(2002). Bovine herpesvirus 4 infections and bovine mastitis. Universiteit Utrecht

Wentink, G.H., Van Oirschot, J.T., Verhoeff, J. (1993). Risk of infection with bovine herpes virus 1 (BHV1): a review. *Veterinary Quarterly* **15**: 30-33.

Whetstone, C.A., Evermann, J.F. (1988). Characterization of bovine herpesviruses isolated from six sheep and four goats by restriction endonuclease analysis and radioimmunoprecipitation. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* **49**: 781-785.

Winkler, M.T., Doster, A., Jones, C. (1999). Bovine herpesvirus 1 can infect CD4(+) T lymphocytes and induce programmed cell death during acute infection of cattle. *Journal of Virology* **73**: 8657-8668.

Yates, W.D. (1982). A review of infectious bovine rhinotracheitis, shipping fever pneumonia and viral-bacterial synergism in respiratory disease of cattle. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine* **46**: 225-263.

Young, P.L. (1993). Attempted infection of sheep with IBR virus strain V155. Unpublished,

Young, P.L., Smith, G.A. (1995). Genetically altered herpesviruses as vaccines. *Veterinary Microbiology* **46**: 175-179.

Young, P.L., Sweeney, J.L., Smith, G.A., Rodwell, B.J. (1994). Failure to detect infection of the bovine foetus after inoculation of a prototype Australian strain of bovine herpesvirus 1. *Australian Veterinary Journal* **71**: 92-93.